
MINUTES
SENATE LOCAL GOVERNMENT & TAXATION COMMITTEE

DATE: Thursday, March 20, 2025
TIME: 2:00 P.M.
PLACE: Room WW53
MEMBERS
PRESENT:

Chairman Ricks, Vice Chairman Adams, Senators Grow, Anthon, Bernt, Den
Hartog, Toews, Bearg (Rabe), and Taylor

ABSENT/
EXCUSED:

None

NOTE: The sign-in sheet, testimonies and other related materials will be retained with
the minutes in the committee's office until the end of the session and will then be
located on file with the minutes in the Legislative Services Library.

CONVENED: Chairman Ricks convened the meeting of the Senate Local Government and
Taxation Committee (Committee) at 2:10 p.m.

H 381 TAXATION - Amends existing law to require the State Tax Commission
to provide certain notices to taxpayers regarding the substantiation of
deductible expense. Representative Andrus presented H 381. He explained that
the Legislature passed a bill in the last session allowing a taxpayer to submit bank
and credit card statements during an audit by the Idaho State Tax Commission
(ISTC) as substantiation of an expense. H 381 required ISTC to provide notice to
the taxpayer of this provision in statute.

MOTION: Senator Den Hartog moved to send H 381 to the floor with a do pass
recommendation. Senator Taylor seconded the motion. The motion carried by
voice vote.

S 1162 SHORT TERM RENTALS AND VACATION RENTALS - Amends existing law to
revise provisions regarding the authority of local governments to regulate
short-term rentals and vacation rentals. Senator Lenney introduced S 1162 and
stated that this bill addressed unclear regulations and local government overreach
by enacting burdensome regulations which have led to lawsuits.
Representative Redman continued the presentation. He explained that current
law provided that neither a county, nor a city may enact or enforce any ordinance
that had the expressed or practical effect of prohibiting short-term rentals or
vacation rentals. The law further provided that short-term rentals were classified
as residential land use for zoning purposes and, therefore, weren't subject to state
regulation. He noted that since H 216 was enacted in 2017, local governments had
enacted burdensome ordinances regarding short-term and vacation rentals such as
ordinances requiring new windows, sprinkler systems or fire suppression systems,
and remodeling to provide an egress or ingress. Representative Redman stated
that S 1162 allowed the local government to revoke the license for a short-term or
vacation rental if the owner or tenant violated city ordinances three times. It allowed
the local government to charge a licensing fee. S 1162 clarified that short-term and
vacation rental properties were subject to all other city and county ordinances and
penalties that applied to residential use, including but not limited to, noise, parking,
nuisances, traffic, and other regulations. The bill required the owner to disclose
whether the property had certain basic safety equipment such as operating smoke
alarms, fire extinguishers, and a first aid kit. In addition, the owner was required to
disclose whether there were exit windows or doors for basement or below grade
rooms.



DISCUSSION: Senator Den Hartog stated that she understood that a group had met after the
2024 session to discuss this issue and asked whether this bill was the result of
those negotiations. Representative Redman stated that this was a negotiated bill,
but it did not reflect all of the negotiations.
Senator Bernt asked Representative Redman to discuss how S 1162 might affect
the zoning authority of local governments. Representative Redman replied that
they would be looking at adding zoning authority back in.
Senator Grow asked whether S 1162 affected covenants and restrictions of
homeowner associations. Representative Redman answered that S 1162 did
not address that.
Senator Taylor asked whether this bill was intended to circumvent any court
decision that might be entered in any of the lawsuits mentioned. Representative
Redman responded no, it was the result of constituents bringing forth their
concerns.
Senator Grow asked whether S 1162 addressed concerns from neighbors of
short-term and vacation rentals regarding bad behavior by renters. Representative
Redman explained that ordinances relating to noise, parking, and nuisance would
be in effect and owners were subject to the three strikes you're out rule in this bill.

TESTIMONY: Jade Riley, city administrator for Ketchum representing the Idaho Resort Cities
Coalition, testified in opposition to S 1162. He argued that the bill trampled on
the property rights of individuals who participated along with short-term rental
owners in developing local regulations. Page 2, lines 34-43, reduced public safety.
Self-certification by the owner or other specified person regarding violations of local
ordinances or state laws was not a realistic approach. Mr. Riley stated that this bill
did not reflect the negotiations over the summer and fall. Finally, he asserted that
this bill was an attempt to circumvent the judicial process.

DISCUSSION: Senator Bernt asked whether Mr. Riley's opinion would be different if page 1, line
21, regarding zoning ordinances was not stricken. Mr. Riley expressed a concern
that this legislation circumvented the Idaho Land Use Planning Act and made an
exception for short-term and vacation rentals. Local governments should be able to
regulate zoning and building requirements.
Senator Den Hartog asked whether this bill reflected the negotiations between
interested parties. Mr. Riley responded that other parties left the negotiations.
Senator Anthon made a declaration of a possible conflict of interest pursuant to
Senate Rule 39(H) inasmuch as he owned a short-term rental.

TESTIMONY: Melissa Radford testified in support of S 1162. She argued that this Idaho Code
§63-1802 was too vague and gave local governments broad authority. S 1162
limited the authority of local governments to regulate short-term rentals. She further
argued that regulations that did not apply equally to short-term rentals and other
properties violated the equal protection clause of the U.S. Constitution.
Bart Quayle, Fremont County Sheriff, spoke in opposition to S 1162. He argued
that local governments needed to be able to respond to local needs for zoning and
other ordinances. This bill required three separate violations of local ordinances
before the short-term rental license was revoked and reduced the ability of local law
enforcement to protect the safety of the community.
Julie Hill spoke in support of S 1162. She commented that residential properties
were not subjected to the same regulations that short-term rentals were. S 1162
provided clarity on existing state law for local jurisdictions and provided for
reasonable safety measures.

SENATE LOCAL GOVERNMENT & TAXATION COMMITTEE
Thursday, March 20, 2025—Minutes—Page 2



Jeremy Grimm, Mayor of Sandpoint, testified in opposition to S 1162. He asserted
that this bill reduced the ability of local governments to regulate short-term rentals
in order to accommodate the community's needs.

DISCUSSION: Senator Bernt inquired whether Mayor Grimm would feel differently if local
governments maintained authority over zoning ordinances. Mayor Grimm
responded that he might.

TESTIMONY: Max Pond, Government Affairs Director, Idaho Realtors Association, addressed
some of the concerns previously expressed. First, although S 1162 did not address
Homeowner Association covenants, another statute prevented a Homeowner's
Association from changing the covenants after an individual had signed them. He
further stated that S 1162 was not an attempt to circumvent any court decision. He
also confirmed that both sides walked away from the negotiating table.
Sara Westbrook, Director of Government Affairs, Idaho Association of Counties,
testified in opposition to S 1162. She clarified that the bill did not require that
short-term rentals have smoke alarms, fire extinguishers, a first aid kit, and so forth.
It required that the owner notify a renter if these items were not on the premises.

DISCUSSION: Senator Den Hartog asked whether the county distinguished between someone
operating a single short-term rental property and someone who might own and
operate several short-term rental properties. Ms. Westbrook was unable to
answer that question.

TESTIMONY: Kyle DeLorey, representing Short and Sweet Stays and Sweet Property
Management, spoke in support of S 1162. He shared that they hosted guests for
weddings, hospice care, surrogacy, business relocation, and more. He contended
that S 1162 prevented local governments from enacting burdensome regulations
for short-term rentals.

PRESENTATION: Representative Redman concluded his presentation. He stated that this was
a negotiated piece of legislation that ensured property rights. Local ordinances
addressed many of the safety concerns. In addition, owners were required to give
notice if certain safety features were not present.
Additional written testimony was provided on legislature.idaho.gov (Attachment 1)
and by e-mail (Attachment 2).

DISCUSSION: Senator Den Hartog noted that it was unusual for the Legislature to set a fee
for local governments and asked how the amount of $50 was determined.
Representative Redman answered that they felt $50 was reasonable.

MOTION: Senator Toews moved to send S 1162 to the 14th Order for possible amendment.
Senator Bernt seconded the motion.

DISCUSSION: Senator Toews commented that some cities had done a good job regulating
short-term rentals while others had been overly restrictive. He thought S 1162
struck the right balance between property rights and local control.
Senator Taylor reminded the Committee that SCR 107, passed by the Legislature
this session, supported local control.
Senator Den Hartog concurred with Senator Toews that some cities had done
a good job regulating short-term rentals while others had been restrictive. She
expressed concern regarding an attempt to circumvent the negotiations process.
Senator Bernt stated his support for local control. He suggested restoring the
language which was stricken by S 1162 on page 1, line 21, which allowed local
governments to enact zoning regulations regarding short-term rentals.
Senator Anthon stated that property rights far outweighed the right to local control
and supported the motion.

SENATE LOCAL GOVERNMENT & TAXATION COMMITTEE
Thursday, March 20, 2025—Minutes—Page 3



Chairman Ricks agreed that S 1162 struck the right balance between property
rights and local control and supported the motion.

VOTE: The motion carried. Senator Taylor was recorded as voting nay.
ADJOURNED: There being no further business at this time, Chairman Ricks adjourned the

meeting of the Committee at 3:07 p.m.

___________________________ ___________________________
Senator Ricks Meg Lawless
Chair Secretary

SENATE LOCAL GOVERNMENT & TAXATION COMMITTEE
Thursday, March 20, 2025—Minutes—Page 4


